FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 2/1/2023 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

CASE NO. 101675-1



IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

COURT OF APPEALS NO. 837460

OLASEBIKAN AKINMULERO

Appellants,

v.

ALLIED RESIDENTIAL – CARRIAGE HOUSE, Respondent.

Appeal from the Superior Court of King County
Judge Chad Allred
No. 21-2-03580-5-KENT
Review from Court of Appeal division 1
No. 837460

PETITION FOR REVIEW

OLASEBIKAN AKINMULERO, Pro Se 3606 SOUTH 180TH STREET, #C35 SEATAC, WA 98188

INTRODUCTION

Appalent has a lease agreement with Allied property management. A public owned apartment complex, managed on contract by Allied property management.

In 2019, in the thick of the COVID, there was a warning to tow appellant's vehicle for missing registration tab on the license plate. Appalent scheduled a visit to the DMV office in the Maple Valley to get a replacement. What actually happened was that there was vandalism of the tab, there were remnants left on the plate. Since it was not a renewal, it was prorated. Appellant decided to just renew for the following year, saving prorated fees. A copy of the registration and tab was given to the office, a copy was left on the dashboard of the vehicle and a note to that when the city is open, appellant will buy a license cover for the plate.

Come then, a year later, with no warning, the vehicle was towed. Therefore, when Allied manager refused to return the vehicle, instead it was auctioned (and the wrecking company threatened with a lawsuit to recover) A lawsuit was initiated in the Superior court.

The superior court cancelled already schedule jury trial and issued a summary judgement. That decision was appealed, and the Court of appeal decided on a De Novo. The decision is here by been requested for review.

IDENTITY OF THE PETITIONER

The Petitioner, Olasebikan Akinmulero respectfully requests the Court to accept review of the Court Appeals decision.

COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

On December 30th, 2022, the court of Appeals, Division 1 issued a decision to deny motion of reconsideration. A motion with clear and distinct material facts in the case.

On November 7, 2022, Court of appeals, Division 1 issued opinion, after a de Novo, on Superior court decision issued a summary judgement.

ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

When ruling on summary judgement, the cardinal rule is that Appellant evidence must be accepted as true. The Respondent has burden of proof that evidence submitted by Appellant are not sufficient to establish triable issue of "material fact"

- 1. Did the Superior Court commit probable error and substantially limit, when the Court cancelled the remainder of the case schedule?
- 2. Summary Judgement is a serious damage to Justice as it deprived appalent the right to Jury trial. Did the Superior Court commit probable error and substantially limit. Violation of the Washington State Constitution such that review is warranted under RAP 2.3(b)(2)? The court on page 8, refused to consider argument in the reply brief as it was too late to consider. The dictionary meaning of De novo is: "from the beginning; anew". It is interesting therefore to complain that pleading was already in. Since the judge on appeal started the review all over, then therefore, cheering picking only document of evidence by the Respondent but rejecting Appellant document, is error in review or implicit expression of discrimination towards Appalent.
- 3. The court grant of Summary judgement is unconstitutional. In the case of Bender v. Monroe Township, No. 05-cv-216, 2007 WL 836865, The Third circuit court reversed District court grant of summary judgement, and that district court should have "allowed the jury to determine which version [was] to be believed. This ruling is a reaffirmation to the citizen significant path to Justice, Liberty, and freedom, when they can have their day in court. I was denied my day in court. Denied my right to state may case with witness and material facts.
- 4. On page 2, of the court decision, declaration of the community manager that Appellant vehicle was towed for expired license registration. The court however stated on page 6 of the ruling that "Even assuming a factual dispute about the status of Akinmulero's vehicle registration in March 2021, he fails to explain how that status was material to his claims" This is an error in judicial opinion. It is obviously a material fact when the Commuter submitted a declaration that the status of the vehicle in March 2021 was the reason the vehicle was towed. Appellant has the burden to show facts contrary to the community Manager. A significant reason summary judgement should not be granted arbitrarily.

- 5. The decision on both Superior court and Court of Appeals caused heavy financial burden on Appellant because of loss of vehicle. Unwarranted economic penalty. In the matter City of Seattle v. Long, this court agrees that some people can use their vehicle as residence. Theis court further stated that under Eighth Amendment, fines and tow charges violated "excessive fines" for mere infraction. Consequently, the loss of my vehicle, expenses to retrieve my belongings, stress and expense to acquire another vehicle were to excessive. Whereas no crime was committed or any violation of the law. In ability to articulate argument is not a question of the law. It is therefore unreasonable for the Court of appeal to make Allied unaccountable for the Economic, pain and suffering, as a result of summary judgment.
- 6. The purpose and intend use of Summary judgement is to relieve the court of unnecessary consumption of the court to deal with fictitious lawsuits. However, more time has been spent on the case, had the court not prevented due process by granting summary judgement.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

- A. The Superior court granted summary judgment in an error, denied Jury trial.
- B. The court of appeals granted discretionary review
- C. Court of Appeal decide on De Novo trial.
- D. The decision affirmed the superior court decision. The court made decision not on facts, but on:
 - i. Opinion that appellant did not articulate his argument. It is discriminative. In the legal sense, Discrimination is the unequal or unfair treatment of a person based upon some personal characteristic. In the legal sense, discrimination occurs when people of different groups or identities are valued and treated differently in the eyes of the law.
 - ii. Appellate presented photocopies that were not authenticated. (The court at no point makes claim that the evidence were false documents or fabricated).
 - iii. The decision also supported false statements by the attorney representing Allied that the vehicle was not properly registered.
 - iv. Some language in the decision is uncharacteristic a of panel of judges engage in discrimination and denigrating litigants. It is unfair to separate or categorize litigants whereas the materials facts remain disputable.

E. Court of Appeal Rejected Motion for reconsideration. In the motion, colored copies of the photos that clearly show the vandalism were attached.

ARGUMENT

A. Articulate

The court should never be a setting for discrimination or with a biased opinion with strictly classification of people with matter before the court. It should not give difference to either parties on the ability to or in ability to fund a high-power lawyer.

It is Extremely disconcerting, that ordinary person, that does not belong to the elite class who cannot afford an attorney or who is an officer of court but do have material facts of a matter are hereby scared away from litigating in the court because of inability to argue against the improperly use of summary judgement. Since the Court of appeals finds that appellant arguments were erratic and not articulated, that finding is then therefore support reason to deny Summary judgement. In a story by ABC news, on January 31, 2007, title A Biden problem: Foot in mouth.

"I mean, you got the first mainstream African-American who is articulate and bright and clean and a nice-looking guy," Biden said. "I mean, that's a storybook, man."

Biden choice of words is relevant here in this matter as it shows a serious discrimination of different groups of people and class. The use by this court is an extreme expression of prejudice and discrimination.

Biden later apologized for the comment. Obviously, there is something wrong with that type of language, it should never come from the court of justice. A place to maintain fairness and equality, regardless of race, greed, and class. This court must at least agree that it may be difficult prove a violation of any statute of the law, the statement is irresponsible and distasteful and of course evidence discrimination towards individuals with facts, but not a lawyer.

non-legal scholar. To see garbage language from politicians in any court of court, is a vivid sign of downward trend for justice. I am sure that the jury of my own peers would dismiss the case due to non-articulation of material facts. This do defeat Summary judgement and a reversal must be eminent.

In the legal sense, discrimination means something different. Discrimination is the unequal or unfair treatment of a person based upon some personal characteristic.

In the **legal** sense, discrimination occurs when people of different groups or identities are valued and treated differently in the eyes of the law. But the law can also combat discrimination, specifically targeting issues of inequity in both individual cases and on a grand scale. Municipal, provincial, federal, and international lawmakers can all enact laws that address maltreatment on the grounds of discrimination.

Discrimination means, at a very basic level, the act of separating out singular things or groups of things.

B. Errors in the Law

Summary Judgement are Case Killers, according to a distinguished legal scholar, Sharon J. Arkin (See Appendix 1)

CONSTITUTIONAL THAME: "Legal Scholars and judges believe that the summary judgement is unconstitutional when you look at Seventh Amendment which provides that....., the right of trial by jury shall be preserved be preserved."

- Rice v. Clark (2002) 28 Cal.4th 89, 96; Mamou v. Trendwest Resorts, Inc. (2008) 165 Cal.App.4th 589, 722. ["to avoid summary judgment a showing need not be strong;, it need only be sufficient to raise a triable issue of fact."]
- Goberman v. Washington County Counsel, CV-00-1083-ST ..."[W]e requires very little evidence to survive summary judgment in a discrimination ... sufficient to raise a triable issue of fact.
- Summary judgement is a means of adjudicating a case without trial. It is not a proper means of judging material facts, but short cutting judicial trial to speed up cases in the court and avoid cases back log. It is a means of eroding the Cliches of "Our day in Court" (, 475 U.S. 574 (1986), Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317 (1986), and Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242 (1986).
- In 13 Wn. App. 641, 536 P.2d 686, this Appellate court wrote, ASHWELL-TWIST v. BURKE "We find the record insufficient to support the granting of a summary judgment

- to Burke". The copy of registration certificate from DMV, is a material of fact in the matter. Summary judgement was and still unwarranted, not necessary but a bias judgement.
- The matter case of *Gulnac v. South Butler County School District, 587 A.2d 699, 701* (a 1991) vacated the declaration judgement as advisory. Declaration judgement is to in effect, predict what may or may not happen. It seems to be forecasting how an unknown juniors will absorb legal arguments and evidence of both Appellant and respondent. The summary judgement ultimately decided a favorable for the respondents or Appellant. It precludes the wise or unwise reasoning of the jury. The use of Summary Judgement distorts jurisprudent process because the Judge predetermined evidence, testimonies, and the entire case to be useless, meaningless and no merits before a jury can hear the case. Summary judgement actions should not precede jury chance to hear the case.
- There were genuine issues of material facts to be presented to the jury during trial, just like the case of Crabtree No. 54951-4-II 23, Jillian Crabtree v. JEFFERSON COUNTY PUBLIC HOSPITAL DISTRICT NO. 2 d/b/a JEFFERSON HEALTHCARE.
- a "genuine issue" and a "material fact." These uncertainties encouraged courts to adopt a restrictive standard for summary judgment. Several courts stated that so long as there was the "slightest doubt as to the facts," a genuine issue of material fact existed within the meaning of Rule 56(c) and summary judgment was inappropriate. Some courts explained that even if the evidence favoring the non-movant was so slight that at trial the court would be compelled to grant the movant's motion for a directed verdict or judgment notwithstanding the verdict, the evidence would nevertheless be sufficient to create a genuine issue for purposes of defeating a summary judgment motion.
- 10 since its prophylactic function, when exercised, cuts off a party's right to present its case to the jury.
- Comment analyzes the extent to which the discretion inherent in the standard provides an avenue for judges to distort it and evaluates the constitutional consequences of doing so. Specifically, wrongful application of the summary judgment standard could run afoul of the Seventh Amendment guarantee to "preserve[]" the right to a jury trial in cases at law. Summary judgement denied my right to jury trial. This was not raised earlier, but it is withing the Appellate Court. RAP 2.5(a)(3) (Chmela v. State Dept. of Motor Vehicles, 88

Wash. 2d 385, 561 P.2d 1085 (1977) (statute not raised by parties); Bitzan v. Parisi, 88 Wash. 2d 116, 558 P.2d 775 (1977)

C. Authenticate:

The court deems evidence of photographs not visible, when noted in order that "Appalent submitted unauthenticated photographs". Page 3 of the order. Whereas, under the law of Washington state, Under RCW 5.44.040, public records are admissible as evidence without further authentication. The court has reasonably stated that the existence or nonexistence or alleged oral agreement should be treated as issue of fact, which the court ruled that it preclude summary judgement. See, e.g., Crown Plaza Corp. v. Synapse Software Systems, Inc., 87 Wash. App. 495, 962 P.2d 824 (Div. 1 1997); Hadaller v. Port of Chehalis, 97 Wash. App. 750, 986 P.2d 836 (Div. 2 1999). Unauthenticated document, Photographs not ear, License plate show fragment of 2020 tab, it must and remain issue of material fact.

In the Davis v. Cox, supreme court of Washington, 183 Wash.2d 269, Washington State Supreme court said that without a jury trial to determine plaintiff's claim, summary judgement invades the jury's essential role of deciding debatable questions of fact.

On page 6 of Court of appeal decision, line 6, The court wrote that the "The photograph does not provide evidence of theft or show that a 2021 registration tab was attached to the license plate or otherwise on the vehicle in March 2021. A photograph of the license plate which shows broken pieces of 2019/2020 TAB, is enough evident to forestall summary judgement. The case of Addick's v. S.H. Kress & Co, the decision implied that it is a matter of civil right matter where it is possible to demonstrate that the genuine issues of material fact can be presented to jury had the court allowed due process. It definitely presents a legitimate defeat for summary. It therefore should propagate the case to jury trial, because under the rule of evidentiary, both parties must show clear and convincing evidence to enable jurors' opportunity to weigh the gravity of substantial material facts.

D. Lease:

The trust of this case on vehicle detained without proper justification. The court relied on the testimony of the Allied manager. And the court seems to turn a contract lease into an argument of the law. Whereas it is biased to equate languages in the lease as a law. (See page 7 of the Appeals court decision). In a 5-4 ruling of this court, on a recent matter of Tadych v. Noble Ridge Construction, this court specifically rule as follows "A contract provision becomes substantively

unconscionable when it eliminates otherwise established statutory rights and is one sided, benefiting the contract drafter, is also not prominently set out in the contract, is not negotiated or bargained for, and provides no benefit to the affected party."

On the declaration of the document presented, the lease, which is a contract, rigged with language that benefited the landlord, and majority of the language are not statutory, meaning not enforceable in court to be defended by Attorney general of WA.

E. False statement to the Court

Both statutes, 18 U.S.C. §1621 and 18 U.S.C. §1623, criminalize essentially the same conduct. An individual commits perjury when, under oath, he willfully (under §1621) or knowingly (under §1623) makes a false statement as to a material matter. Also, Title 18, United States Code, Section 1001 makes it a crime to: 1) knowingly and willfully; 2) make any materially false, fictitious, or fraudulent statement or representation; 3) in any matter within the jurisdiction of the executive, legislative or judicial branch of the United States

RCW <u>9A.76.175</u> Making a false or misleading statement to a public servant. - A person who knowingly makes a false or misleading material statement to a public servant is guilty of a gross misdemeanor. "Material statement" means a written or oral statement reasonably likely to be relied upon by a public servant in the discharge of his or her official powers or duties.

(Sec. 1. RCW 2.48.210 and 1921 c 126 s 12 are each amended to read 15 as follows (16)...... and will never seek to mislead the (30) judge or jury by any artifice or false statement of fact or law;) Respondent Brief, page 13, line 6: "He failed to comply with the terms of that rental agreement to keep the vehicle properly licensed". This statement with a collaboration document from the DMV is a false statement. The vehicle was legally licensed throughout the years 2018, 2019 and 2020. Sadly enough, this court seems to favor Respondent side of argument when the court declared, on page 3 of the decision that Appellant several documents were not authenticated.

F. Due Process Violation

When Trial was not granted, depriving Appellant right to present witnesses, it is violation of due process. In the case of Sacred Heart Medical Center, No.90357-3, En Banc, The WA state supreme court concluded that a testimony could sustain a verdict. It is therefore arguable that affirmation of the appeal court of Superior court granting summary judgment is equally erroneous and violation of due process not allowing trial by jury.

CONCLUSION

The civil right acts is a protection against discrimination based on race, National origin, Gender. The right guarantee individual right to litigate issues at the court without the penalty of classification in the wall of Justice. Suffering a defeat in the Court of Appeals for inability to articulate an argument to the satisfaction of a Judge/s, is and therefore violation of the US law under Civil right.

When there is uncertainty and the slightest chance of doubt or dispute in material Facts, a genuine issue of material fact existed, then, therefore, Summary Judgement cannot be the true or fair means of resolving a case in the court of law. Summary judgement is improper per rule 56

The legal process provides equitable relief to an injured party. But summary judgement, a discretion tool the court, to define what materials of evident judges find worthy or credible, is effectively providing no remedy. Justice is the method of settling disputes in a civil society that offers civil rights to all, implementing a jury to render judgement as nonacademic Jurist. The Court is the platform. The proceedings and judgement on this matter is the epidemy of what is wrong when bias towards a poor litigant who cannot hire a lawyer, dare go to court as pro Se, to settle a dispute. The outcome of this matter centered on pure discrimination on Appellant by how his argument were not articulated to the standard of the Court of Appeal.

CASE NO.

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OFWASHINGTON

COURT OF APPEALS NO. 837460

OLASEBIKAN AKINMULERO

Appellants,

v.

ALLIED RESIDENTIAL – CARRIAGE HOUSE,

 ${\bf Respondent.}$

Appeal from the Superior Court of King County
Judge Chad Allred
No. 21-2-03580-5-KENT
Review from Court of Appeal division 1
No. 837460

PETITION FOR REVIEW

OLASEBIKAN AKINMULERO, Pro Se 3606 SOUTH 180TH STREET, #C35 SEATAC, WA 98188