FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
3/13/2023 1:35 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 101675-1

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

OLASEBIKAN AKINMULERO,

Petitioner,

v.

ALLIED RESIDENTIAL-CARRIAGE HOUSE,

Respondent.

RESPONSE TO PETITIONER'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

By:

Randy Redford, WSBA 21529 Puckett & Redford, PLLC 901 5th Ave, Suite 800 Seattle, WA 98164

Email: rredford@puckettredford.com

Phone: (206) 386-4800 Fax: (206) 233-8166

Drew Mazzeo, WSBA No. 46506 Harbor Appeals and Law, PLLC 2401 Bristol Court SW, Suite C-102 Olympia, WA 98502

Email: office@harborappeals.com

Phone: (360) 539-7156 Fax: (360) 539-7205

Attorneys for Respondent

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

3. RESTATEMENT OF THE CASE

- 3.1. In May of 2019, Petitioner rented an apartment from Respondent. (CP at 41-53). It is uncontested that Petitioner resided solely in the rented apartment and nowhere else. *Akinmulero v. Allied Residential-Carriage House*, 24 Wn. App. 2d 1021 (2022).
- 3.2. Section 28(d) of that lease provided vehicles on the property must maintain current registration and be operable: "All vehicles must maintain current registration and be currently in good operating condition to remain parked on the property." (CP at 48).
 - 3.3. Section 21(a) of that lease provided that the

respondent, as landlord, may with 24 hours of notice remove any vehicles on the property that were either inoperable or with expired license tabs:

Without notice and without liability, LANDLORD may remove any vehicle from any parking space or carport, which in LANDLORD'S opinion is parked illegally or which remains inoperable for a period of twenty-four (24) hours. For purposes of this agreement, the term inoperable means inoperable according to Washington State law and includes any vehicle with expired license tabs.

(CP at 46).

3.4. During a routine inspection of the parking lot in March 2021, the Respondent's management found two vehicles without current registration tabs affixed to them. (CP at 30). Both vehicles were tagged for towing. (CP at 30, 35-39). Petitioner's vehicle was one of those vehicles. (CP at 30, 35-39). His tabs indicated that his registration had expired in 2018. (CP at 30, 33). On March 8, 2021, when Appellant had not removed his vehicle from the parking lot or updated the registration tabs on the vehicle, the car was towed. (CP at 30).

- 3.5. The towing company sent Petitioner the required redemption documents to redeem the car. (CP at 30, 35-38). Petitioner never completed nor submitted the form to challenge the validity of the tow. (CP at 30). He chose not to redeem the vehicle from the tow lot, electing only to retrieve personal property from the vehicle. (CP at 30, 68-69). After the car had been stored for the requisite time period provided to Petitioner by the towing company, it was sold at auction. (CP at 35-38).
- 3.6. At the time of the towing of the vehicle, Governor Inslee's emergency order 20-19.5 prohibited landlords from evicting residents from residential dwelling units. (CP at 60).
- 3.7. Later in March of 2021, instead of redeeming the car from the tow lot, and instead of challenging the towing of the vehicle in municipal or district court, Petitioner sued Respondent in superior court. (CP at 2). He claimed the towing of the vehicle was illegal under the Governor's proclamation (citing no particular proclamation provision), was a violation of the lease agreement (citing no particular lease provision), and contrary to

Chapter 59.18, RCW, the residential landlord tenant act (citing former RCW 59.18.375(6), governing nonpayment of rent and payment into the registry of the court in certain circumstances before issuance of a writ of restitution in a residential unlawful detainer action regarding a dwelling unit). (CP at 2-6)

- 3.8. In January of 2022, Respondent moved for summary judgment and also moved to dismiss for failure to prosecute. (CP at 22-28). The summary judgment motion pointed out the lease provisions stated above and the fact that the Governor's proclamation was entirely inapplicable as it covered residential dwellings not unregistered vehicles and did not create a private cause of action. (CP at 22-28). The motion to dismiss for failure to prosecute explained that Petitioner failed to abide by the trial court's scheduling order, that the proper forum to contest a towed vehicle was in municipal or district court, under RCW 3.66.020 and RCW 56.55.120(2)(b), and that the superior court lacked jurisdiction to hear Petitioner's complaint.
 - 3.9. Later in January of 2022, Petitioner responded to

the motions by Respondent. (CP at 65-95). He provided the trial court unauthenticated photos vehicles and a license plate showing a 2018 registration date, an email to Respondent about his vehicle being towed, and no declarations or any substantive evidence under oath. (CP at 65-95). He argued Respondent violated the Governor's proclamation by towing the vehicle, that doing so was an unlawful eviction under Chapter 59.12 and Chapter 59.18. RCW, that his registration tag on his vehicle was stolen, that he had registered the vehicle, that Respondents were not police and could enforce law requiring registration of vehicles, and that Respondent had no right contractually or otherwise to have the vehicle towed. (CP at 65-73).

3.10. In February of 2022, the trial court dismissed the action brought by Petitioner. (CP at 96-97). It reasoned "P[etitioner]—who has the burden of proof at trial—did not submit any sworn affidavits or declarations under penalty of perjury" and that "[b]ecause Plaintiff has not done so, there is no genuine issue of material fact. . . summary judgment is

appropriate."

- 3.11. On appeal, Petitioner argued the following in pertinent part:
- The trial court violated "several procedural and constitutional law of Washington State." (Amended Brief of Appellant at 4).
- Respondent's "allegation action violated the Governor's order during the pandemic." (Amended Brief of Appellant at 5).
- Trial court erred at summary judgment by not "assum[ing] that . . . P[etitioner's] allegations [we]re true" and not "consider[ing] hypothetical facts not of the formal record." (Amended Brief of Appellant at 6).
- Trial court erred by not allowing the case to proceed to trial. (Amended Brief of Appellant at 7-8).
- Trial court by not recognizing that Petitioner certified service of his summary judgment response under oath and that this certification under oath applied to the substance of

his Response. (See Amended Brief of Appellant at 11).

- Respondent's property manager was not an expert therefore her declaration was inadmissible. (*See* Amended Brief of Appellant at 12).
- Governor's proclamation required a new lease from Respondent to Petitioner, that was not done, and trial court erred by recognizing this legal reality. (*See* Amended Brief of Appellant at 13).
- Respondent's emails with the trial court regarding scheduling the summary judgment hearing was improper exparte communication. (Amended Brief of Appellant at 15-16).
- 3.12. In November of 2022, Division One issued an unpublished decision affirming the trial court's dismissal of Petitioner's complaint. (*Akinmulero*, 24 Wn. App. 2d 1021).
- It reasoned that Respondent's admissible evidence "shifted the burden" of Petitioner to "come forward with specific admissible evidence showing a genuine issue of material fact." (*Id.* at 5).

- Further, that Petitioner "did not assert, much less established through admissible evidence" any genuine issue of material fact. (*Id.*). No affidavit, declaration, or other sworn testimony was provided by Petitioner as required by CR 56. (*Id.* at 5-6). "Even assuming a factual dispute" was claimed Petitioner "fail[ed] to explain how that status was material to his claims" as the Governor's proclamation was inapplicable to towed vehicles and no provision in the lease supported Petitioner's contractual claims. (*Id.* at 6-8).
- Petitioner "d[id] not explain how a dispute about the status of his registration or an alleged theft of "the previous year tab" creates an issue of fact as to the breach of the lease." (*Id.* at 8).
- Respondent's rental manager was not required to testify as an expert. (*Id.* at 9).
- The trial court did not violate and procedure under state or local rules and no inappropriate ex-parte communication occurred regarding the scheduling of a hearing that contained

nothing substantive as to the matter at hand. (*Id.* at 9-11).

- 3.13. Division One denied Petitioner's motion for reconsideration.
- 3.14. In February of 2023, Petitioner filed Petition for Review at hand. In pertinent part he does not provide reasons this Court should take review under RAP 13.4(b), but rather how he believes both the trial court and Division One ruled incorrectly¹:
- His vehicle was properly registered and should not have been towed. "[W]ith no warning, the vehicle was towed." (Petition at 1).
- The trial court and Division One "cherry picked" evidence in making their decisions and Petitioner was "den[ied his] day in court." (Petition at 2).

¹ Liberally construing the Petition, Petitioner attempts to stitch together a public policy argument under the Eighth Amendment that when people live in their cars, it is an "excessive fine[]" to have their cars towed. The problems for Petitioner are that this case neither involves a car used as a dwelling nor does it involve or invoke the Eighth Amendment because the government was not involved.

- The trial court "prevented due process by granting summary judgment." (Petition at 3).
- The trial court and/or Division One discriminated against Petitioner. (Petition at 3-4).
- Public records are admissible without authentication and unauthenticated photo of a license plate showing a 2018 registration date established a genuine issue of fact. (Petition at 7).
- The lease agreement was unconscionable. (Petition at 7-8).
- Respondent's attorney in the Brief of Respondent committed perjury when he wrote Petitioner "failed to comply with the terms of th[e] rental agreement to keep the vehicle properly licensed." (Petition at 8).
- The trial court committed a due process violation by "depriving [Petitioner] right to present witnesses" at trial. (Petition at 8).

//

- 4. ARGUMENT IN RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW
 - 4.1. Petitioner's Failure to Comply with RAP 13.4(b) and RAP 13.4(c)(7) Mandate this Petition be Denied.

RAP 13.4(c)(5), requires "[a] concise statement of the issues presented for review." *State v. Korum*, 157 Wn.2d 614, 624, 141 P.3d 13, 19 (2006). Other issues are not reviewed. RAP 13.7(b); *Korum*, 157 Wn.2d at 625. In addition, RAP 13.4(c)(7) requires both a concise statement *and* argument "of the reason why review should be accepted under one or more of the tests established in section [RAP 13.4](b)."

Here, Petitioner's Petition does not explain why this Court should take review under RAP 13.4(b). Rather, it requests this Court overturn Division One's affirming of the trial court's decision. (Petition at 2-3). The argument sections within the Petition do not contain any citations to RAP 13.4(b). No concise statements exist explaining how specific provisions of RAP 13.4(b) support the Petition. "[T]he reason why review should be

accepted under one or more of the tests established in section [RAP 13.4](b)" is unknown because such "tests" are not mentioned.

Consequently, Respondent must guess at which provision of RAP 13.4(b) the Petition is based. This failure to comply with RAP 13.4 is fatal to this Petition. *See* RAP 13.4(b); RAP 13.4(c)(7); RAP 13.7(b); *Korum*, 157 Wn.2d at 625. It should be denied on this basis alone.

4.2. <u>Petitioner Raises Arguments in His Petition that Not Only Lack Merit But that Were Not Raised to the Trial Court or On Appeal.</u>

An "appellate court may refuse to review any *claim of* error which was not raised to the trial court." RAP 2.5(a) (emphasis added); *In re Marriage of Choate*, 143 Wn. App. 235, 245, 177 P.3d 175, 179 (2008). A party fails to preserve and waives alleged errors by failing to object, or by failing to claim error, at the time the error is allegedly made. *In re Det. of Audett*, 158 Wn.2d 712, 724, 147 P.3d 982, 987 (2006) (citing *State v. Guloy*, 104 Wn.2d 412, 421, 705 P.2d 1182 (1985) (holding "a

litigant cannot remain silent as to claimed error during trial and later, for the first time, urge objections thereto on appeal."); Marriage of Vanwey, 82063-0-I, 2021 WL 960820, at *4.

Here, not only does Petitioner fail to cite or argue any reason under RAP 13.4(b) for this Court to grant review, but he makes new arguments, also frivolous, that were never presented to the trial court nor Division One. For example, Petitioner attacks the trial court judge and panel of judges at Division One as "discriminatory" and accuses those justices of "cherry picking" evidence rather than applying CR 56 to case Petitioner brought against Respondent. He further argues the lease agreement as "unconscionable" and accuses Respondent's counsel of committing perjury in an argument section of an appellate brief. Finally, he raises inapplicable due process and Eighth Amendment arguments. None of these arguments were made to the trial court nor Division One. All of which should not be considered by this Court under either RAP 13.4(b) or RAP 2.5(a), and this Petition should be denied.

4.3. <u>Division One Correctly Affirmed the Trial Court,</u>
No Error Law was Committed, No Conflict of
Existing Law was Presented by Petitioner, and No
Issue of Substantial Public Interest Has Been
Demonstrated.

Under RAP 13.4(b) a "petition for review be accepted by the Supreme Court only" where a conflict in published law exists, there is a significant constitutional question presented, or issues of substantial public interest are presented. As Division One held, CR 56 requires and genuine issue of fact and the non-moving party cannot rely on "having its affidavits considered at face value" and "must make a factual showing sufficient to establish an element essential to that party's case. . . ." (Akinmulero, 24 Wn. App. 2d at 5).

Here, Petitioner does not cite or argue what provision of RAP 13.4(b) he is basing his Petition on. This Petition should be dismissed. (*See* Section 4.1). Regardless, RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), (3), and (4) are a not a basis for review, unless this Court *wants* to entertain creating a conflict with this Court's well-settled precedent.

Moreover, Petitioner provided no required affidavits at all, let alone sufficient ones, as both the trial court and Division One ruled and held. Division One affirming the trial court's dismissal is a noncontroversial ruling. *See e.g.*, CR 56(c). Dispositively, no evidence of a 2021 registration tab, as required by the lease, was ever provided showing that such registration was affixed to Petitioner's vehicle and license plate. The Governor's proclamation did not apply to vehicles, only to dwelling units, and Respondent violated no law or contract by having the vehicle towed. Petitioner for his part improperly brought suit in superior court rather than properly contesting the towing of the vehicle in district or municipal court.

Additionally, even if a factual dispute about the status registration of Petitioner's vehicle was presented to the trial court, Petitioner failed to explain how the status—as opposed to affixing registration tabs to the vehicle and license plate as required by the lease—was material to his claims. The lease required registration tabs to be visibly affixed to the vehicle and

if not the lease agreement allowed Respondent to tow the vehicle. Alleged theft of his "previous year tab", arguendo, even if it was somehow supported by evidence Petitioner presented could not create a material issue of fact.

Last, Petitioner's arguments that the manager could not testify or that improper ex-parte communication occurred when Respondent scheduled a hearing or that the trial court abused its discretion in deciding the matter without oral argument are frivolous arguments unsupported by any authority. State and local rules, as held by Division One, all supported that the trial court acted properly.

5. ATTORNEY FEES AND COSTS

Under RAP 18.9(a), "An appeal is frivolous when the [it] presents no debatable issues on which reasonable minds could differ and is so lacking in merit that there is no possibility of reversal." *Stiles v. Kearney*, 168 Wn. App. 250, 267–68, 277 P.3d 9, 17 (2012). In *Stiles*, frivolity was found, and fees awarded, because the arguments lacked merit, relied on

"misunderstandings", and were not adequately brief.

Here, this Petition was cut from the same cloth as Stiles. The Petition was not adequately briefed as the heart of the Petition—a single reason to grant review under RAP 13.4(b)—is not cited nor articulated. Its "naked castings into [RAP 13.4(b)] are not sufficient to command judicial consideration and discussion." See State v. Johnson, 179 Wn.2d 534, 558, 315 P.3d 1090, 1102 (2014), as amended (Mar. 13, 2014). Several arguments raised were not made to the trial court or appellate court at all. The arguments made to the trial court, and to Division One and then remade in this Petition demonstrate no conflict with published law and point out no error by Division One. The issue of towing an unregistered vehicle from an apartment complex pursuant to a contractual agreement is not of substantial public interest.

Respondent should not have had to pay an attorney thousands of dollars to respond to this Petition, having to restate many decades of well-settled caselaw and applying such law to

these particular facts. Respondent should recover attorney fees under RAP 18.9(a).

6. CONCLUSION

Pursuant to RAP 13.4, Respondent respectfully requests this Court deny review, for the reasons stated herein, and award attorney fees and costs pursuant to RAP 18.9(a) for having to respond to this frivolous Petition.